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			Foreword

			Like Walt Disney himself, Art Linkletter is a national treasure. As the host of House Party (twenty-five years on CBS radio and TV) and People Are Funny (nineteen years on NBC radio and TV), Mr. Linkletter has brought laughter and joy into the homes of generations of Americans. He is the author of twenty-three books, including Kids Say the Darndest Things and Old Age Is Not for Sissies. Art Linkletter is active in many important causes, including fighting drug abuse and improving life for senior citizens. 

			WHEN I FIRST MET Walt Disney, he was setting up folding chairs in an empty auditorium. It was 1940, and I was a young broadcaster, working at a local radio station in San Francisco. Walt had come to introduce his new motion picture, Fantasia. I arrived early for the press conference, and found the place empty except for one fellow who was busily arranging chairs.

			I said, “When is Walt Disney supposed to arrive?”

			He grinned and said, “I’m Walt Disney.”

			I said, “You are? Why are you arranging chairs?”

			“Well,” he said, “I like to have things just-so.”

			That was quite an introduction, because it gave me a glimpse of the kind of person Walt was. He wasn’t a Hollywood big shot, impressed with his own importance. He was just a friendly, humble guy from the Midwest who happened to be in the movie business. We sat down and talked, and it was as if we had known each other for years. 

			The next time I encountered Walt was in 1951. My wife Lois and I were on a ship, bound for a European holiday. We were delighted to find Walt and his wife Lillian also aboard. Walt and I had a wonderful time, talking about show business and mutual friends. I had always enjoyed his films, from the Mickey Mouse shorts to Snow White and Fantasia, and it was fascinating to hear him explain how those films were made.

			We became close personal friends, and our families socialized and traveled the world together. We even lived a few blocks from each other in Holmby Hills, near Los Angeles. I enjoyed going to Walt’s home and watching him fire up his backyard steam train. 

			The man was a paradox. He was so down-to-earth and straightforward, yet he continually surprised you with the depth of his thinking. He lived a simple lifestyle, yet he envisioned grand, complex projects like Disneyland and EPCOT, his city of tomorrow. He was so childlike, with his wide-open imagination and his belief that anything is possible. Yet he was amazingly mature in his ability to focus on his goals and make his dreams come true. 

			Walt delighted in the role of Daddy to his two girls. No matter how busy he was, he made a priority of spending time with his family. He was a Hollywood rarity—a totally involved parent. (My son Jack and Walt’s daughter Sharon saw a lot of each other during their teen years. Walt and I used to think that we might one day become in-laws as well as neighbors—but it didn’t work out.)

			You rarely found Walt at a Hollywood cocktail party. He and Lil enjoyed coming to our house for dinner, because it was always a family affair. There were no photographers, no reporters, no one trying to corner Walt and sell him a movie script. Walt enjoyed relaxing with people he felt comfortable with, and he had no use for the glitz and phoniness of Hollywood.

			Unlike Walt, Lil enjoyed social events. She and Lois were very close friends, and she used to say, “Please, Lois, never leave us out of one of your parties. I like to go out and Walt is such a ­homebody—but he’ll always come to a party at your house.”

			One day in 1954, Walt called me and said, “Art, let me take you for a ride down to Orange County and I’ll show you where I’m going to build Disneyland.”

			Well, I loved to hear Walt talk about his big plans, so we drove down with some researchers from the Stanford Research Institute. We finally got to a place where some bulldozers had cleared out an orange grove. It looked like a big field of dirt clods.

			“Well,” Walt said, “this is it.” He looked around and he could see it all in his imagination: the Disneyland Railroad, Main Street, Sleeping Beauty’s Castle, Adventureland, Frontierland, Fantasyland, Tomorrow­land. I looked around and saw nothing but a cow pasture. I thought, My poor, deluded friend! He’s going to put a bunch of merry-go-rounds and roller-coasters out here, forty-five minutes from L.A. He’ll go broke!

			“Art,” he said, “There’s a fortune to be made here. If you buy up all the property around Disneyland, in a year or two it’ll be worth twenty times what you paid for it.”

			Well, I was too smart to get caught up in Walt’s enthusiasm! I didn’t buy any real estate around Disneyland—and by being so “smart,” I passed up a chance to make millions!

			A year later, in 1955, Walt came to my house and asked if I would emcee the televised grand opening of Disneyland. I was honored, and I chose two friends to assist me. One was actor Robert Cummings, who had just appeared with Grace Kelly in Alfred Hitchcock’s Dial M for Murder. The other was a charming actor named Ronald Reagan (I understand he later went into ­government work). So Bob Cummings, Ronnie Reagan and I opened the gates of Walt’s Magic Kingdom. Disneyland became a phenomenal success, the Eighth Wonder of the World.

			A few years later, I was at a birthday party in Walt’s home. He pulled me into a corner and said, “Art, I want your opinion on something. I can get ten-thousand acres in Florida, enough land to do all the things I’ve ever dreamed of. I can build another Disneyland and have plenty of room for future projects. What do you think?”

			“Walt,” I said, “when you first told me you were going to build Disneyland, I thought it was a terrible idea. Well, I was wrong then. But now, I think I’ve got some good advice for you: Don’t do it. Don’t build another Disneyland in Florida.”

			He looked at me in dismay. “Why not?”

			“Look at what you’ve got over in Anaheim,” I said. “Disneyland is one of a kind. It’s like the Pyramids of Egypt or the Grand Canyon—there’s nothing else like it in the world. As soon as you build another one, the original isn’t unique anymore.” 

			That shows how much I knew!

			Of course, Walt had much bigger plans than a second Disneyland. He was going to build an experimental city of the future where people would live and test new ideas and technologies. He wanted to solve tough social problems such as urban congestion, pollution and crime. He had a vision for moving the world beyond the social and political conflicts that divide our nation. 

			I remember being with him at the 1960 Winter Olympics in Squaw Valley, California. Walt was in charge of the opening and closing ceremonies, and he and I worked together on the nightly entertainment for the athletes in the Olympic Village. 

			One night, Walt and I looked out over the audience and saw hundreds of Olympic athletes from around the world, people of every race, language and nation. Walt’s eyes shone as he said, “Isn’t that amazing? Here are all of these people, different in so many ways, yet united by their hopes and goals and dreams. This is how the world should be.”

			The world knew Walt Disney as a great man who achieved great things. I knew him as a good man, a decent and kind man, and a friend. I miss him to this day. I’ve often wondered: What if he had been given another twenty years of life? What might he have accomplished? 

			I’m grateful that Pat Williams has written this book, How to Be Like Walt. It’s a fitting tribute to Walt’s memory and an important contribution to the Disney legacy. There are few people in history whose lives are more deserving of study and emulation than Walt Disney. Now more than ever, we need people with the qualities Walt had: optimism, imagination, creativity, leadership, integrity, courage, boldness, perseverance, commitment to excellence, reverence for the past, hope for tomorrow and faith in God.

			How would Walt feel about a book called How to Be Like Walt? Well, I suspect he might not like the title. He’d probably arch one eyebrow and say, “I don’t want anybody to be like me! I just want everybody to be themselves!” 

			But that’s just the point of this book. Walt was unique—and so are you! The attitudes and traits we learn from Walt’s life teach us how to be more uniquely who we are and who we were meant to be. If each of us would dream big dreams, approach life with hope and confidence, and persevere until our dreams come true, then we would not only be more like Walt, but we would become the people God created us to be.

			Pat Williams has spent most of his career as an executive in the National Basketball Association, and he is currently senior vice president of the Orlando Magic. He has authored more than thirty books, including Go for the Magic and How to Be Like Jesus. Pat and his wife Ruth are parents of nineteen children, including fourteen adopted from four nations. 

			Pat became a serious student of Walt Disney in the late 1980s while working to build the Orlando Magic. He has personally interviewed virtually every living person who knew Walt, including Walt’s family and friends, plus Disney artists, actors, composers, studio executives, Imagineers, secretaries and Disneyland “cast members.” He and his writing-research team have consulted well over a thousand books, articles and other information sources. 

			Pat Williams was assisted by two people who have spent years studying Walt and his accomplishments. Pat’s writing partner, Jim Denney, is the author of the Timebenders science-fantasy novels for young readers; he cites Walt Disney as a major influence on his writing career. Pat’s research partner, Peggy Matthews Rose, has spent most of her adult life with the Disney organization (her first job was as a Disneyland cast member, performing as Peter Pan).

			Of all the books written about Walt Disney, this may be the most important. Walt’s life was cut short in 1966, and he left many dreams unfulfilled. We are far from his cherished ideal of a world in which people of all races, languages, religions and creeds can come together in a spirit of harmony and brotherhood. 

			So I encourage you to turn the page, read this book, then go out and carry on Walt’s unfinished work. Dream big dreams, and pursue those dreams with courage, optimism and perseverance. Commit yourself to making the world a better place. 

			I can imagine no finer tribute to Walt than that.

			—Art Linkletter

		

	
		
			Chapter One
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			It All Started with a Boy

			When Walt Disney was just a boy, his father put him to work in the harsh conditions of a Kansas City blizzard—then kept the money Walt earned. Even so, Walt embraced a nostalgia for his early years while dreaming big dreams of the future. 

			I CAME TO ORLANDO, Florida, in 1989 to help build a brand-new NBA basketball team, the Orlando Magic. Soon after I arrived, I discovered that everywhere you look, Orlando bears the imprint of one personality: Walt Disney.

			Walt never lived in Orlando. He only visited the town a few times before his death. Yet his vision and values have made Orlando what it is today—a city unlike any other. You sense it in the optimistic spirit of the people you meet. You see it in the clean, broad streets and beautifully designed buildings. Walt’s spirit is alive in this town.

			We named our team the Magic—not only because the Magic Kingdom is practically next door, but because of the way Walt’s magical personality has touched this community. While working to build our organization, I received help and encouragement from Disney executives, and came to know many of them well. Some, such as Bob Matheison, Dick Nunis and Bob Allen, were personally mentored by Walt. 

			In August 1986, at an event at a Disney hotel, I sat next to Dick Nunis, who was then head of Disney Attractions. Dick began with Disney in 1955 and had known Walt well. So I asked him, “What made Walt Disney so successful?” Then I spread out a napkin and jotted down everything he said. Dick shared story after story of Walt’s life—and I wrote each one down. Those stories helped shape my previous Disney-inspired book, Go for the Magic.

			In the years since I came to Orlando, I’ve made a second career of studying the life and words of Walt Disney. I’ve read every book I could find about Walt, and have spent hundreds of hours interviewing people who knew him. Though I never met Walt, I feel I know him well.

			Some people have told me it’s impossible (even foolhardy) to attempt a book called How to Be Like Walt. “The man was one of a kind—nobody can be like Walt!” they told me. 

			Yes, Walt was unique—but does that mean there is nothing we can learn from him? Don’t you believe it, my friend! There isn’t a day that goes by that I don’t apply one of the lessons of Walt’s life to my own career and personal life. Though I never met him, Walt is one of my mentors. My life has been deeply impacted by this man. It would be fair to say that the Orlando Magic would not exist if not for Walt’s influence.

			The title of this book is How to Be Like Walt—but I’m not suggesting that you should open a cartoon studio or build a theme park. Whatever your dreams and goals, the lessons of Walt’s life will serve you well. Whether you work in the field of entertainment, the arts, finance, industry, sales, government, philanthropy or religion, you will have greater success and make a greater impact on the world if you apply the principles of Walt’s amazing life.

			Walt once said, “I only hope that we never lose sight of one thing—that it was all started by a mouse.” In reality, it all started with a boy. Here is that boy’s story.

			The deacon’s son

			Walter Elias Disney was born in Chicago on December 5, 1901. He was named Walter after Rev. Walter Parr, pastor of Chicago’s St. Paul Congregational Church. Young Walter was raised in the strict Congregationalist tradition. 

			Walt was the youngest of four sons born to Elias and his wife Flora. His three brothers were Herbert (born 1888), Raymond (1890), and Roy Oliver Disney (1893). His sister Ruth was born in 1903. Walt’s father traced his lineage back to Hughes d’Isigny, a knight from Isigny-sur-Mer on the coast of Normandy, France. D’Isigny fought in the Norman conquest of England in 1066, then settled in Ireland. Walt’s great-grandfather emigrated to Canada in 1834, and his father Elias was born in Ontario in 1859. 

			Elias married a schoolteacher, Flora Call from Ohio. In the early 1890s, Elias moved his family to Chicago, where he took a job as a carpenter at the 1893 World’s Fair (the Columbian Exposition), working seven days a week for a dollar a day. 

			Elias Disney was an inflexible, un­imaginative, and almost humorless man. Devoutly religious, he maintained a severe approach to child-rearing: “Spare the rod and spoil the child.” 

			Once when Walt was in his early teens, Elias growled at the boy for being slow in handing him a tool. Walt shot back, “I’m working as fast as I can!” Elias ordered Walt to the basement for punishment. Walt’s brother Roy told him, “Don’t take it from him anymore!” Steeled by Roy’s advice, Walt went to the basement with his father. As Elias was about to strike Walt with the handle of his hammer, Walt snatched the hammer from his father’s hand.

			“I held both of his hands,” Walt recalled in later years. “I was stronger than he was. I just held them. And he cried. He never touched me after that.” 

			There’s no excuse for violence against children. Yet it would be a mistake to write off Walt’s father as a two-dimensional villain. Elias Disney loved his family, and Walt loved his father despite the man’s flaws. Elias possessed a number of good qualities that shaped Walt’s life in a positive way. 

			First, there was Elias Disney’s Protestant integrity. He taught his children the importance of honesty and a good reputation—a crucial lesson for young Walter. If Walt Disney had ever sullied his name with scandal, the trusted Walt Disney corporate identity would have become worthless. 

			Second, there was Elias Disney’s Protestant work ethic. Elias worked hard and usually earned a decent living for his family. When misfortune pushed him out of one business, he would start a new business, often in a different part of the country. Young Walter watched his father take risks and battle adversity, and he learned crucial lessons about hard work and persistence.

			Walt’s father was compassionate toward his fellow man. Elias frequently offered a free meal and a place to sleep to complete strangers. “He’d bring home some of the weirdest characters,” Walt later recalled. Walt’s sister Ruth remembered Elias as “very sociable. He had such a gracious way with people who came to our house. I always wanted to be like that.”

			“He was a strict, hard guy with a great sense of honesty and decency,” said Walt’s brother Roy. “He never drank. I rarely even saw him smoke. . . . He was a good dad.” 

			“I had tremendous respect for him,” said Walt. “I ­worshipped him. Nothing but his family counted.” Walt chose to emulate his father’s best traits: faith in God, faith in his fellow man, a strong work ethic, honesty and integrity, perseverance, a tolerance for risk, compassion for people, love of music, and love for family.

			The farm boy from the big city

			Walt’s personality was profoundly shaped by his mother. Flora Call Disney was an even-tempered woman who almost never displayed anger, though she was tough and assertive when she had to be. The daughter of a scholar, Flora loved good books. She taught Walt how to read before he started school.

			Flora was a skilled seamstress and made most of the children’s clothes. She was also good with finances, and often helped in her husband’s business enterprises. She drew the plans for the Disney family home at 1249 Tripp Avenue in Chicago. Elias built the house and painted it white with blue trim. Walt was born in an upstairs bedroom of that house.

			In 1906, increasingly alarmed about the corrupting influences of the big city, Elias and Flora bought a forty-five-acre farm near Marceline, Missouri, a hundred miles northeast of Kansas City. This move profoundly affected Walt’s life. He would later recall nothing of those early Chicago years; his earliest memories were those of a Missouri farm boy.

			Though Walt would become a man of the big city, his life was shaped by life in Marceline. Small towns and farms formed the backdrop for most of Walt’s cartoons and feature films. Disneyland’s Main Street USA is an idealized version of Marceline, Missouri. One of Walt’s closest associates on the Disneyland project, Harrison “Buzz” Price, told me, “Walt was rooted to reality in Marceline. He grew up there around real people. He lived close to the earth, close to nature. He maintained that farm boy quality all his life.”

			Flora had a great sense of humor, enjoying a good joke—even if the joke was on her (young Walter was an incorrigible practical joker). “We had a wonderful mother,” Walt’s brother Roy recalled. “She could kid the life out of my dad when he was peevish.” Flora Disney’s love of laughter helped compensate for Elias’ austere personality. Her warmth brightened the Disney home and helped shape the optimistic outlook of young Walter Elias Disney.

			Increasingly unhappy with life on the farm, Walt’s two eldest brothers Herbert and Ray left home one night, taking the train to Chicago. Their departure made life all the harder for Roy, the third Disney brother and only remaining farmhand. 

			Roy Oliver Disney was eight years older than Walt. Despite the gap in their ages, Roy and Walt were close. Roy saw himself as his little brother’s protector. Little did Roy know that he would make a career of looking after Walt. 

			From his earliest years, Walt was a risk-taker. On several occasions, he talked his reluctant sister Ruth into cutting across a nearby pasture. When they did, they were invariably chased by a bull. Sometimes they escaped being trampled by a mere second or two—a memory that was the basis of a scene in Disney’s Song of the South (1946). 

			Young Walter saw the animals on the farm as friends and companions. He would go out to the barnyard every morning, greet them all by name, and invent stories about them. One of Walt’s closest pals was a fat piglet named Skinny who followed him around like a puppy. 

			One year, a circus parade came through Marceline. Walter stood on the curb with his mother and sister, watching the parade pass by: clowns, acrobats, elephants, tigers and more. Walt’s parents couldn’t afford to take him to the circus, so Walt went home, made a tent out of burlap sacks, caged up some farm animals in wooden crates, and charged neighbor kids ten cents to see his homemade “circus.” When Flora found out, she made him refund every dime. Walt’s love of circuses and parades would last a lifetime.

			Marceline was a small but bustling whistlestop on the Santa Fe Railroad. Uncle Mike Martin, a Santa Fe engineer, would bring candy for Roy, Walter and Ruthie, then sit on the front porch swing and talk about life on the rails—everything from his own railroad adventures to the legend of Casey Jones. Walt was ­fascinated.

			Walt’s father had once worked as a machinist with the Union Pacific line, and had helped lay track across the Great Plains and the Rocky Mountains. Whenever Uncle Mike was telling railroad stories, Elias would swap a few of his own. One story Walt never tired of hearing was the time Elias met “Buffalo Bill” Cody, the ­legendary founder of Buffalo Bill’s Wild West Show.

			In Marceline, Walt saw his first theatrical play—a road performance of Peter Pan starring Maude Adams. Walt also saw his first motion picture in a Marceline movie house—a depiction of the crucifixion and resurrection of Jesus Christ. The powerful images made a lasting impression on the boy.

			Young Walter spent his happiest days on that farm outside of Marceline. “To tell the truth,” Walt once said, “more things of importance happened to me in Marceline than have happened since—or are likely to in the future. . . . I’m glad I’m a small-town boy and I’m glad Marceline was my town.” 

			Young Walter’s favorite pastime was drawing pictures. To amuse his sister, who was sick with the measles, nine-year-old Walt created a flip-book animated with walking stick figures. Ruth giggled with delight as she flipped the pages and the stick figures moved. 

			One of the greatest encouragements Walt received for his budding talent came from Dr. L. I. Sherwood, a retired doctor who lived near the Disney farm. On one occasion, the doctor commissioned Walt to do a drawing of his prize Morgan stallion. “I think the doctor must have held that horse nearly all day, just so I could draw it,” Walt later recalled. “Needless to say, the drawing wasn’t so hot, but Doc made me think it was tops.” The twenty-five cents Walt earned opened his eyes to the possibility of drawing pictures for a living.

			Whenever Walt’s Uncle Robert and Aunt Margaret came to visit, Aunt Maggie would bring pencils and Crayola paper tablets for Walt to draw on. Aside from Aunt Maggie and Doc Sherwood, though, other grownups were not so encouraging. 

			Walt’s father often rebuked him for “wasting time” drawing pictures at the expense of his farm chores and schoolwork. “He just scoffed at me,” Walt recalled, “and said that if I was foolish enough to want to become an artist, I should learn the violin. Then I could always get a job in a band if I was in need of money.”

			A fourth-grade teacher once scolded Walt for exercising his Disneyesque imagination on a class assignment. The students were shown a bowl of flowers to sketch. Walt drew the flowers with faces—a foretaste of the humanized flowers in the Silly Symphonies and Alice in Wonderland. “Flowers,” the teacher sternly admonished, “do not have faces!” 

			Electrified in Kansas City

			In 1909, Elias became seriously ill. Unable to keep the farm going, Elias sold the property for $5,175—less than he had paid for it. It broke Walt’s heart to leave the farm. He cried openly when his favorite animals were auctioned off. 

			Elias moved his family to Kansas City. From the sale of the farm, he purchased a Kansas City Star distributorship. He hired several delivery boys, and made Roy and Walt deliver papers without pay. Every morning at 3:30 a.m. the boys were awakened to deliver newspapers with their father. 

			Elias insisted on quality work and made the boys place the paper inside the customer’s storm door, even if the boys had to walk through four-foot snowdrifts. Some have suggested that Walt’s memories of those harsh winters might have been exaggerated. But Disney historian Dan Viets, co-author of Walt Disney’s Missouri, told me, “Walt told the truth about his boyhood. He talked about one winter in Kansas City with enormous chest-high snowdrifts. I checked the weather records for that winter and, sure enough, it was a hard winter with lots of snow.” 

			Between newspaper delivery, school and a job after school, Walt put in the equivalent of an eight-hour workday every day. It’s no wonder that, as an adult, Walt rarely took vacations. From boyhood on, working hard was all he ever knew. 

			Those were traumatic years for Walt. Throughout his life, he experienced recurring nightmares—dreams in which he trudged endlessly through blizzards, or was punished by his father for failing to make a delivery.

			At nineteen, Roy decided to leave home. “Dad treats me like a little boy,” he told Walt in the summer of 1912. Roy left home in the middle of the night and headed to Kansas, leaving Walt without his longtime friend and protector. 

			At the Benton Grammar School, Walt was a mediocre student. His teachers complained that he was more inclined to daydreaming and drawing cartoons than completing assignments. He sometimes fell asleep in class, due to exhaustion from hard work. 

			Walt’s best friend in school, Walter Pfeiffer, recalled an incident from Walt’s fifth-grade year. “On Lincoln’s birthday,” he said, “Walt came to school all dressed up like Lincoln. He had a shawl that I guess he got from his dad. He made this stovepipe hat out of cardboard and shoe polish. He purchased a beard from a place that sold theatrical things. He did this all on his own. Principal Cottingham saw him and said ‘Walter, you look like Lincoln. Why are you dressed this way?’ Walt said, ‘It’s Lincoln’s birthday and I want to recite his Gettysburg address.’ He had memorized it. Walt got up in front of the class and the kids thought this was terrific, so Cottingham took him to each one of the classes in the school. Walt loved that.”

			Walt considered Mr. Cottingham a friend and sent his family Christmas cards over the years. In 1938, Walt contacted Cottingham, who was still the Benton School principal (he retired in 1940), and invited the entire student body to see Snow White and the Seven Dwarfs for free. 

			Walt enjoyed his time at Benton School. He entertained friends with convincing impressions of his hero, silent film star Charlie Chaplin. He also displayed his cartooning skills in class. One of his teachers liked to have Walt tell stories to the class and illustrate them on the chalkboard as he spoke.

			Walt and his chum Walter Pfeiffer once performed a skit for a school talent show called “Fun in the Photograph Gallery.” The boys pretended to take a classmate’s picture with a trick camera. First, the camera squirted water, soaking the unsuspecting classmate. Next, Walt pulled a sheet of paper out of the camera—a caricature of the victimized student (Walt had drawn it in advance, of course). This early show-business experience employed three of Walt’s skills: showmanship, comedy and ­cartooning. 

			Billing themselves as “The Two Walts,” the boys put on skits and comedy routines at amateur night contests around Kansas City. Elias Disney frowned on show business, so Walt would sneak out and meet Walt Pfeiffer at a local theater. “I’d sneak him out of the window, so his dad wouldn’t know,” Pfeiffer recalled. “When we’d get through [with a show], I’d shove him back in the window and go home.”

			Walt studied the fine points of acting, including facial expression, gestures, vocal variation, emotion and comedic timing. Throughout his career, Walt used his acting skills to dramatize characters in his cartoons and features. He even invented a comic dance step used as an animation guide for Baloo the Bear in The Jungle Book, the last animated feature Walt personally supervised.

			Walt was undoubtedly influenced by two amusement parks in Kansas City. One was Fairmount Park on the east side of the city, just two blocks from Walt’s first Kansas City home at 2706 East 31st Street (Walt’s family later moved to 3028 Bellefontaine Street). It featured giant dipper rides, a nine-hole golf course, a zoo, and swimming and boating on a natural lake. An elaborate July Fourth fireworks show attracted crowds of over 50,000 people. Walt’s sister Ruth once told an interviewer that she and Walt would peer through the fence, longing to enter that “fairyland” (as she called it), but lacking the price of admission.

			The other park that influenced Walt’s imagination was Electric Park. Located at 46th Street and the Paseo, it was one of the largest amusement parks in America at that time. Like Disneyland, Electric Park featured band concerts, thrill rides (the Spiral Coaster, the Log Flume Plunge, the Ben Hur Racer), and spectacular nighttime fireworks displays. Electric Park also featured a steam-powered train that circled the park, just as a train now circles Disneyland. Perhaps the adult Walt Disney was recalling Electric Park when he said that Disneyland “has that thing—the imagination and the feeling of happy excitement—I knew when I was a kid.”

			Electric Park got its name from the 100,000 electric bulbs that transformed it nightly into a magical fairyland of illumination. Edison’s light bulb was still a novelty in those days, and only a third of American homes had electricity. Electric Park hosted crowds of up to 50,000 visitors a day before it burned to the ground in 1925. If you visit Disneyland at night and see the park lit up with thousands of lights, you may be catching a glimpse of the incandescent glory of Electric Park as it shone in Walt’s memories.

			Walt’s teenage years

			Walt fell in love with Snow White when he was fourteen years old. 

			The year was 1916, and Walt was one of scores of Kansas City newsboys invited to a special screening of the silent movie version of Snow White, starring Marguerite Clark. It was the first feature-length film Walt had ever seen, and it made a deep impression on him. 

			When Walt was fifteen, Elias Disney sold the newspaper route to invest in a jelly-canning firm, the O’Zell Company of Chicago. Elias moved his wife and daughter to Chicago and became an O’Zell executive. Walt stayed with brothers Herbert and Roy in the Bellefontaine Street home. Herb was married with a two-year-old daughter, and Roy was an unmarried bank clerk.

			Roy helped Walt get a summer job as a “news butcher” for the Van Noyes News Company, selling newpapers, candy and tobacco to passengers on the Santa Fe Railroad. Walt bought the railroad men cigars and chewing tobacco from his own box, and they let Walt ride with them and blow the steam whistle. 

			At the end of that summer, Walt joined his parents and sister in Chicago. By day he attended McKinley High School; by night the Chicago Academy of Fine Arts. His art teacher, Carl Wertz, encouraged students to observe and draw live models, both animals and people. Wertz admired the comic touch Walt brought to his drawings. 

			Leroy Gossett and Carey Orr, two prominent Chicago newspaper cartoonists, mentored Walt, and inspired him to seek a career as a newspaper cartoonist. Walt also worked as a cartoonist on the McKinley High School magazine, The Voice. When not in school, Walt worked part-time at the O’Zell Company.

			During the summer of 1918, Walt applied for a job with the post office, but was turned down because of his age. Undaunted, the sixteen-year-old Walt put on one of his father’s hats and a false mustache, then returned to the post office. The same man who had turned him down an hour earlier promptly hired him. 

			By the fall of 1918, World War I had been raging for over four years. Roy had joined the Navy and Walt vowed to get into the war as well. He and his friend, Russell Maas, were too young for the Army, so they decided to enlist in the Canadian Army, where the age limit was lower. Russell’s mother uncovered their plan and tipped Flora, which ended that scheme.

			A few weeks later, Russell told Walt that the American Ambulance Corps had been formed by the Red Cross and was accepting seventeen-year-olds. Walt and Russell showed up at the Red Cross office claiming to be brothers—Walter and Russell St. John. Their plan fell through when the Red Cross asked to see their passports.

			Walt told his parents he wanted their permission to join the ambulance corps. Elias refused, but Flora surprised Walt by taking his side. “Three of my sons have left this family in the middle of the night,” she said. “Walter’s determined to go, Elias, even if he has to sneak out like his brothers. I’d rather sign this paper and know where he is.”

			After a heated argument, Elias finally said, “Forge my name if you want, but I won’t sign!” And he stormed out of the room.

			Flora forged his name, and it was done—except that she had entered Walt’s real birthdate on the passport application. Walt solved that by changing “1901” to “1900.” With the stroke of a pen, Walt became a year older and eligible to volunteer. Walt’s Red Cross training was interrupted by the deadly influenza epidemic of 1918. 

			Though sick herself, Flora took care of Walt and his sister while they suffered fever and delirium. Thanks to Flora’s nursing skills (and a lot of quinine water), Walt and Ruthie survived. When Walt recovered, he found that his ambulance unit—and his friend Russell—had shipped out to France. Walt was assigned to a new unit undergoing training in Sound Beach, Connecticut. 

			There, Walt became acquainted with a fifteen-year-old ambulance corpsman (who also lied about his age) named Ray Kroc. Kroc would later become famous as the founder of the McDonald’s fast-food empire. During breaks from training, Kroc and his friends would go into town. Walt stayed by himself in camp. As Kroc later recalled, he and his comrades “regarded Disney as a strange duck, because whenever we had time off and went on the town to chase girls, he stayed in the camp drawing pictures.” 

			On November 11, the Armistice was signed at Compiegne, France, ending the war—and Walt’s dreams of glory. The Red Cross still needed ambulance drivers, however, and Walt shipped out on November 18. He sailed to Le Havre, France, aboard the SS Vaubin, a converted cattle ship. After passing through mine-infested waters, Walt arrived on December 4, the day before his seventeenth birthday. 

			Walt took the train from the coast to Paris (he noted that French locomotives were much smaller than the high-powered American engines). After a brief tour of Paris, he reported to Red Cross headquarters at St. Cyr. He slept on a cot in a cell-like room of an unheated chateau, using an old newspaper for a blanket.

			Walt chauffeured military officers around Paris—hardly the ­battlefield duty he volunteered for. Later, he drove relief supplies to war-ravaged areas. He decorated his ambulance with cartoons and picked up extra money by painting discarded German helmets to look like battlefield souvenirs. He sent the money home to Flora via American Express with instructions to buy Ruthie a watch and put the rest in the bank. 

			While in France, Walt started smoking cigarettes for the first time in his life. Smoking would eventually become a three-pack-a-day habit leading to his premature death (if there is one way you should not be like Walt, this is it: don’t smoke). 

			In September 1919, Walt’s ambulance unit was disbanded. Walt returned to America with the goal of becoming a newspaper cartoonist in Kansas City. On his way back to Kansas City, he stopped by his parents’ home in Chicago for a brief visit. 

			An incorrigible prankster, Walt told his mother that, from the deck of the troop ship, he had seen the words “Prudential Insurance” in neon lights across the Rock of Gibraltar. He also showed her a battlefield souvenir he kept in a little box. When he opened the lid, his mother screamed at the sight of a bloody thumb. It was actually Walt’s own thumb, stained with iodine and poking through the bottom of the box.

			That evening after dinner, Walt’s father called him into the living room for a serious discussion. “Walter,” Elias said, “I have a job for you at the jelly factory. It pays twenty-five dollars a week.” 

			“Dad,” Walt replied, “I don’t want to work at the jelly factory. I want to be an artist.” 

			“You can’t make a living drawing pictures,” Elias said. “You need a real job.”

			“I’ll get a real job,” Walt said, “as a newspaper cartoonist.” Seventeen-year-old Walt Disney had a dream, and was determined to make his dream come true.

			How to Be Like Walt—Lesson 1: Live the Adventure

			Walt’s boyhood on the farm near Marceline inspired a sense of wonder and imagination that stayed with Walt throughout his life. Yet he also experienced treatment from his father that, by today’s standards, can only be considered abusive. Wounds in the flesh will heal; scars in the soul last a lifetime. 

			The relationship between Elias Disney and his sons was a complex mixture of love and hate, respect and resentment. All four boys loved their father, yet hated the way he forced them to work and donate every cent to the family till. They respected their father’s faith, honesty, integrity, charity to strangers and hard work—yet they resented his violent temper and harsh demands. It’s significant that all four Disney sons left home between the ages of sixteen and nineteen. They couldn’t wait to get out of their father’s house and live on their own terms. Clearly, there was an oppressive atmosphere in the Disney home.

			Walt’s boyhood years are instructive because of the way he chose to deal with his childhood memories. He spoke with heartbreaking candor about having nightmares throughout his life, yet he never let childhood pain darken his optimism. Walt chose to focus on the good in life while letting go of the bad. He shaped his life around warm, nostalgic memories of Marceline, the romance of the railroad, the thrill of his first circus parade, the joy of seeing Snow White on the silver screen. He chose to emulate his father’s positive traits while disregarding the negative traits. 

			Walt’s positive attitude was a crucial factor in his success and personal happiness. Unfailing optimism was central to the personality of Mickey Mouse, and a consistent theme throughout Walt’s cartoons, feature films and television shows. Walt once said, “I always like to look on the optimistic side of life, but I am realistic enough to know that life is a complex matter. With the laughs come the tears, and in developing motion pictures or television shows, you must combine all the facts of life—drama, pathos and humor.”

			Walt’s formative years provided the foundation for a lifetime of success. From his mother, Walt learned the value of fun and a good sense of humor. From his father, he learned the value of faith, honesty, integrity, hard work, persistence and a willingness to take risks. Walt sifted his childhood memories, savored the good experiences, and distilled all of those good memories into his films and theme parks. 

			Stacia Martin is both a Disney character artist and a Disney historian. “My life has been impacted by Walt’s unfailing optimism,” she told me. “He had a difficult childhood, and received little encouragement to pursue his dreams. But Walt never stopped believing in himself. He kept faith with his dreams, and saw them through to conclusion. You can’t undergo as much hardship as Walt did without a great reservoir of optimism down deep in your spirit. Walt’s example inspires me every day.”

			Author Ray Bradbury, a friend and admirer of Walt Disney, told me, “Everything Walt achieved in his life was something he was told he couldn’t do. His father told him he could never make a living by drawing cartoons. He spent his entire career proving the doubters wrong. And he had a wonderful time doing it.”

			Ray once told an interviewer, “Walt Disney was more important than all the politicians we’ve ever had. They pretended optimism. He was optimism. He has done more to change the world for the good than almost any politician who ever lived.”

			It’s true. Walt was so much more than a great showman. He was a great human being who touched and changed our lives. The joy and inspiration he gave the world is far more important, more uplifting to the human race than almost any invention, law or idea in human history. Because Walt walked among us, the world is a kinder, more compassionate, more hopeful place than it would have been without him.

			Walt believed in the family and he produced inspiring, illuminating entertainment for the entire family to enjoy together. He enshrined the great legends of American history. In the process, Walt enriched and elevated the way we view ourselves and our place in history. 

			Today, it’s hard to imagine growing up in a world without Disney theme parks, Snow White and Mary Poppins, Mickey Mouse and Donald Duck. Critics may call the Disney worldview ­simplistic or unreal. Pollyanna, after all, was a Disney movie! Well, let the critics complain. The world would never miss a thousand critics, more or less, but the world would be a much poorer place if there hadn’t been just one Walt Disney. 

			That is why I have written How to Be Like Walt. My own life has been transformed by my study of Walt Disney. The more I learn, the more I want to be like Walt.

			I’m not claiming Walt was a saint. He was a flawed human being, and in these pages we’ll talk honestly about those flaws. But he was also a great human being. His life deserves our study and emulation. And the first lessons we learn from Walt’s early life are these:

			Accept the pain of the past. Learn the lessons of the past. Embrace the nostalgic memories of the past. Then dream big dreams of the future and start chasing them!

			Above all, live your life as a grand adventure. When Walt was just sixteen, he couldn’t wait to break the boundaries of his existence, to rush out into the world, to drive an ambulance through a world war. So be like Walt. Live the adventure. Wade out into the depths of this life and meet it on your own terms. 

			And the next time you visit a Disney theme park or watch a Disney movie, remember that it all started with a boy—a Missouri farm boy whose father told him to stop dreaming and get a “real job” in a jelly factory. A Missouri farm boy who changed the world.

			It doesn’t matter where you came from, or who your parents were, or what happened to you when you were a child. All that matters is that you are willing to live the adventure and dream big dreams, then make those dreams come true.

		

	
		
			Chapter Two

			[image: ]

			Anything Is Possible

			From the earliest years of his career, Walt demonstrated two qualities that would mark his life and propel his success: his unabashed salesmanship and his unwavering belief that anything is possible. 

			WALT LEFT HIS PARENTS’ HOME in Chicago and took the train to Kansas City, back to the house on Bellefontaine Street. On Walt’s first night back in Kansas City, he and Roy stayed up late, talking about their adventures and about the future. Walt told Roy about his experiences in France, and Roy recounted the horror of seeing ships in his convoy sunk by German U-boats.

			Walt and Roy also talked about the future. Roy was making $90 a month as a teller at the First National Bank of Kansas City; he looked forward to a future in the world of finance. Walt told Roy his plans to become a political cartoonist. 

			The next day, Walt applied at the Kansas City Star, but was turned down because he was too young. Undaunted, Walt decided to start as a copy boy and work his way up. He returned the next day in his Red Cross uniform. The advertising manager took one look at Walt in his uniform and told him he was too old to be a copy boy. 

			A few days later, Walt landed a job with the Pesmen-Rubin Commercial Art Studio, making $50 a month. There, he met a young artist with the unusual Dutch name of Ubbe Iwwerks. The two eighteen-year-olds became friends and formed their own company, Iwerks-Disney Commercial Artists. Ubbe (who later shortened his name to Ub Iwerks at Walt’s suggestion) did illustrating and lettering while Walt handled cartooning and sales.

			With the help of his boyhood chum, Walt Pfeiffer, Walt landed the company’s first contract: designing the United Leatherworkers’ Journal (Walt Pfeiffer’s dad was an official in the union). Next, Walt showed his drawings to Al Carder, a Kansas City restaurateur who had been a neighbor of the Disney family. Carder also published a trade newspaper, the Restaurant News. “You fellas do good work,” Carder said, “but the Restaurant News is a small publication. I don’t have enough work to keep two artists busy.”

			“Just give us a couple of desks,” Walt countered. “We’ll do all your artwork for free. You’ll have a full-time art department at no charge—and we’ll have an office rent-free. Deal?” Even at eighteen, Walt was a great salesman. It was a deal. 

			In their first month in business, they cleared $135 after expenses. When Walt learned of an opening for a commercial artist at the Kansas City Slide Company, Ub encouraged Walt to apply, promising to keep Iwerks-Disney going. A. Vern Cauger, owner of the company, gave Walt the job, which paid $40 a week. Unfortunately, Ub Iwerks was not the salesman that Walt was, and Iwerks-Disney soon folded.

			At Kansas City Slide Company (later called Kansas City Film Ad Company), Walt learned about a new artform called animation. After Walt learned the principle of animation with crude cutouts, he wanted to do animated cartoons. 

			At the Kansas City Public Library, Walt found two books that altered the course of his life. One was Eadweard Muybridge’s The Human Figure in Motion, which contains sequential photographs (like frames of movie film) of people engaged in various actions—walking, running, throwing a ball. The other book was Animated Cartoons: How They Are Made, Their Origins and Development by Carl Lutz. Walt made photostatic copies of the pictures in those books and kept them as reference guides for his animation ­experiments. 

			Of the Lutz book, Walt later said, “Everyone has been remarkably influenced by a book, or books. In my case it was a book on cartoon animation. I discovered it in the Kansas City Library at the time I was preparing to make motion picture animation my life’s work. The book told me all I needed to know as a beginner—all about the arts and the mechanics of making drawings that move on the theater screen. . . . Finding that book was one of the most important and useful events in my life.” 

			Walt’s career had turned a corner. No longer could he imagine himself drawing static cartoons that would appear in a newspaper one day, then be gone forever. He dreamed of making drawings that lived and moved. 

			It’s interesting to speculate: If A. Vern Cauger had not given Walt a job at his company, it is quite possible that Walt might have never discovered the wonders of animation. I spoke with Ted Cauger, the son of the man who hired Walt. “God sent Walt Disney to the Kansas City Film Ad Company,” Ted told me. “It was all destiny—Walt’s arrival in Kansas City, my dad owning that company and giving Walt a job, and Walt discovering how animation is done while he was working there. It was all part of God’s plan.” 

			Those Kansas City years were lean times for Walt. Though he made decent money, he spent it on equipment for his animation experiments. He set up the equipment in the garage on Bellefontaine Street. Walt’s niece Dorothy (his brother Herb’s daughter) was five years old at the time, and she recalls, “Walt had me stroll down the walk in front of the house carrying a full milk bottle and wheeling my baby dolly carriage. I pretended to accidentally break the bottle, spilling the milk over everything. Then he reversed the film so that I backed up, and the milk came back up into the bottle.”

			By this time, Roy was courting Edna Francis, a clerk at the First National Bank. When Walt accompanied Roy to Edna’s house, he took it upon himself to serve as chaperone. After dinner, he would sit in a corner, sketching in his notebook, saying, “Don’t mind me.” He sometimes left notes around the room with cartoons of two love birds in a nest, or with the emphatic command, “No canoodling!” One time, Walt hid a rubber squeak toy under the sofa. When Roy and Edna sat down, the squeak toy squawked, Edna shrieked, and Walt appeared in the doorway, wagging his finger.

			I asked Roy and Edna’s son, Roy E. Disney (former Vice Chairman of The Walt Disney Company), about his parents’ relationship with Walt. “My dad and Walt had a unique relationship throughout their lives,” he replied. “I think the key was that Dad was eight years older than Walt, so Walt was always the little brother. In all those years together, Dad felt responsible to take care of his little brother. In addition, Dad married a woman who was three and a half years older than him and twelve years older than Walt. To my mother, Walt was always a little punk kid. She knew just how to stick a pin in his bubble and bring him back to earth. It was a riot to watch Mom do that.”

			The Laugh-O-gram cartoon factory

			Ub Iwerks recalled an incident from his early friendship with Walt that underscores the confidence Walt had in his dreams. It was a slow work day at the Kansas City Film Ad Company, so the artists and cameramen got up a game of penny ante poker. “Hey, Diz,” one of them said, “come on, we need your money!”

			Walt was at his drawing table, working. “Deal me out,” Walt said. “I’m busy.”

			Ub got up and wandered over to Walt’s drawing table. He found Walt practicing his signature. “I knew right then,” Iwerks said, “that with his ego, Walt was going to make it.”

			Walt worked at the ad company during the day and moonlighted producing Newman Laugh-O-grams which sold at a rate of thirty cents per foot of film (which only covered his material costs—he forgot to charge for his time). 

			By 1920, Roy and Edna were talking seriously about marriage. But Roy suffered two serious attacks of influenza, then underwent a botched tonsillectomy. Soon afterward, Roy was diagnosed with tuberculosis, and the Veterans Administration sent him to a convalescent hospital in New Mexico. It would be years before Roy and Edna would see each other again.

			Meanwhile, the O’Zell Jelly Com­pany went bankrupt. Elias Disney lost his job and his investment, so he and Flora returned to Kansas City. Walt had no intention of living with his parents, so he moved to an apartment, leaving his camera equipment in his parents’ garage. Elias charged him five dollars a month for storage.

			In May 1922, Walt quit his job and incorporated a new enterprise, Laugh-O-gram Films, Inc. His plan was to produce New York-style ­animated shorts, using ink drawings on celluloid transparencies (or “cels”). He moved his camera equipment into a five-room suite in the McConahay Building at 1127 East 31st Street. For operating capital, Walt sold $15,000 worth of stock to several local investors—quite a feat of salesmanship for a twenty-year-old entrepreneur. 

			Walt coaxed a reluctant Ub Iwerks to join the Laugh-O-gram studio. Iwerks was supporting his mother and worried about being paid in rubber paychecks—a valid concern, as it turned out. Walt attracted five other young artists with a newspaper ad in which he promised animation training (though Walt himself was a novice in the field). Walt also hired a business manager, an inker-painter, a salesman and a secretary. 

			Walt’s youthful exuberance, combined with his lack of business experience, resulted in wasteful spending on a lavish office suite and an over-large staff. Walt had a steep learning curve ahead of him.

			The two twenty-year-olds, Walt and Ub, were the “old men” at Laugh-O-gram. The other employees were still in their teens. (Two of them, Hugh Harmon and Rudolf Ising, would later create the Looney Tunes and Merrie Melodies series for Warner Brothers.) There was no organizational chart—everyone did whatever needed to be done. For example, Walt’s friend Walt Pfeiffer manned the animation camera and also inked cels.

			Walt’s new company quickly landed an $11,000 contract to produce cartoons for Pictorial Clubs, Inc. The distributor paid Walt $100 in earnest money, and his animators went to work. They cranked out cartoons that gave an updated twist to classic fairy tales—Little Red Riding Hood, Jack and the Beanstalk, Goldilocks and the Three Bears, Puss in Boots and Cinderella. 

			After six cartoon shorts, Pictorial Clubs went bankrupt. Walt had to lay off employees and cut artists’ pay in half. Ub Iwerks returned to Kansas City Film Ad Company (though he continued to moonlight at Laugh-O-gram several nights a week). 

			By the end of 1922, Laugh-O-gram was approaching bankruptcy. Unable to pay his rent, Walt moved in with Ub and his mother. After two uncomfortable weeks, Walt moved his toothbrush and suitcase to the office and slept on the couch. Once a week, he went to the railroad station, where he could rent a bathtub, towel and soap for a dime.

			The studio was temporarily saved when a Kansas City dentist, Dr. Thomas McCrum, paid Walt $500 to produce a film called Tommy Tucker’s Tooth. In that film, which combined cartoon and live action, Tommy learns the importance of brushing three times a day. The story of how Dr. McCrum commissioned Walt to make that film illustrates how desperate Walt had become. 

			Walt was alone in his office when Dr. McCrum phoned, ready to conclude the deal. “Could you come to my office tonight?” said Dr. McCrum. “We’ll wrap up the details and I’ll give you a check for the first payment.”

			“I can’t come,” Walt said. “I don’t have any shoes.”

			“No shoes!” said Dr. McCrum.

			“I took my only pair to the shoemaker downstairs to have them re-soled,” Walt explained. “They’re ready, but the shoemaker won’t let me have them unless I pay him a dollar fifty.”

			“I’ll be right over,” the doctor said. He drove to Walt’s office, paid the shoemaker for the shoes, then sat down with Walt and concluded the film deal.

			Walt hired back some of his animators and made the movie. Twenty years later, after Mickey Mouse made Walt famous, that dental hygiene film continued to be shown around Kansas City. 

			Alice in Cartoonland

			Re-energized by the cash infusion, Walt laid plans for a new cartoon series. He admired Max Fleischer’s Out of the Inkwell cartoons, which always opened with Koko the Clown emerging from an ink bottle and jumping into the real world. Walt decided to reverse Fleischer’s gimmick by having a real girl jump into a cartoon world. The series was called the Alice Comedies or Alice in Cartoonland.

			Walt hired four-year-old Virginia Davis to play Alice. With her charming smile and Mary Pickford curls, little Virginia had screen appeal. 

			Walt directed Virginia by having her do various actions in front of a neutral background. Animation was added later by Walt, Ub and the other artists. (Forty years later, Walt and Ub would again combine ­animation and live action in Mary Poppins.)

			When I interviewed Virginia Davis, she told me, “I was four when I first went to work for Walt. He was twenty-one. I just adored him. He was like a favorite uncle to me. I guess I was Walt’s first star—the first Disney contract player. 

			“Walt was a great salesman. He could sell anything to anyone. He was also a very honest man—honest to a fault. When he gave his word, you could count on it. He was a salesman who did what he promised. 

			“He sold my mother on doing some of the filming for Alice’s Wonderland in our home in Kansas City. Walt didn’t have money to build sets. Instead, he brought all the lights and cameras into our home so that he could shoot the scene where my mother tucks me into bed. Later, after we finished filming Alice’s Wonderland, Walt sold my mother on letting me go to California to make more Alice Comedies in Hollywood.

			“Sometimes we would film in a vacant lot. Walt would have me act out a scene in front of a white tarp that was draped over a billboard to make a pure white background. Drawings would later be added to the white spaces. 

			“Walt was an excellent storyteller and actor. He would act out the character, so I could see the kind of performance he wanted. He’d say, ‘Let’s pretend there’s a lion chasing you. Here it comes! You’re frightened! Now, scream!’ Or he’d pretend to be a wolf, and roar, ‘Aaarrrggghhh!’ Because they were silent films, he could direct me out loud while the camera was rolling. 

			“Film was expensive, so he had to get those shots in one take. I usually gave him what he wanted in the first take, so Walt was always happy with my performances.

			“Walt was very protective of me when I worked for him. He was also protective of his product. He wanted the Alice Comedies to be as good as they could be. I cherish those memories of working with Walt at the very beginning of his career. I fell in love with him and I watched his career over the years. I was heartbroken when he died.”

			In May 1923, Walt contacted film distributor Margaret J. Winkler, who distributed Max Fleischer’s Out of the Inkwell series. Walt described the Alice series to Miss Winkler, who sent back an encouraging reply (she had seen Walt’s Laugh-O-gram cartoons and knew his work).

			With live action filming for Alice’s Wonderland under way, the $500 he’d received from Dr. McCrum quickly ran out. One of Walt’s Kansas City investors, Dr. John Vance Cowles, occasionally advanced money to Walt, though he never expected to get his investment back. Dr. Cowles had been the Disney family physician for years, and always liked Walt. (Three decades later, Dr. Cowles’ son, John Jr., helped design Disneyland and assisted in building a barn-workshop behind Walt’s house.)

			During this time, Walt’s brother Roy moved from Santa Fe to a veterans facility in Tucson. Hearing of Walt’s financial situation, Roy sent Walt a blank check. “Fill in any amount up to $30,” Roy’s note instructed. Walt made out the check for exactly $30.

			Walt ate on credit at a Greek restaurant downstairs from his office. When his tab reached $60, one of the owners cut off Walt’s credit. A few days later, the other owner went to Walt’s office and found him sitting on a crate, eating cold beans from a can. “Oh, Walter,” the man said, “go downstairs and get something to eat! Don’t worry about the money.”

			By mid-June 1923, it was clear that Walt would not have the money to complete Alice’s Wonderland. In an act of consummate salesmanship, he wrote to Margaret Winkler and said that the film “will be finished very soon” and he would arrive in New York in early July with a print of the film “and an outline of our future program.”

			Soon afterward, Walt was evicted from the McConahay Building. Deeply discouraged, Walt wrote to Roy, who had moved to the Veterans Hospital in Sawtelle (West Los Angeles). Walt laid out his situation and Roy wrote back, “Call it quits, kid. You can’t do anything more than you’ve already done.” 

			In early July 1923, Laugh-O-gram Films, Inc., filed for bankruptcy. The court allowed Walt to keep one movie camera and his unfinished Alice film. All his other assets were seized to pay his creditors. Phineas Rosenberg, the attorney appointed to manage the bankruptcy proceedings, recalled, “Most people filing for bankruptcy are disturbed or bitter. Walt wasn’t.” After the assets were liquidated, Laugh-O-gram’s creditors got forty-five cents on the dollar. 

			In July 1923, Walt went to the Kansas City train station. In his cardboard suitcase were two spare shirts, two sets of underwear, and a can of film—the only print of Alice’s Wonderland. His wafer-thin wallet contained only $40 in cash—the proceeds from the sale of the movie camera. He wore a checkered jacket, blue trousers and a red bow tie. Walt treated himself to a first class railway ticket to California—a symbol of his optimistic spirit. 

			Ub Iwerks and Roy’s girlfriend, Edna Francis, saw Walt off at the station. “I was just free and happy,” he later recalled. “I was twenty-one years old. But I had failed. I think it’s important to have a good hard failure when you’re young.”

			Walt’s optimism took a beating on the way to California. “I met a guy on the train when I was coming out,” he remembered. “He asked me, ‘Going to California?’ ‘Yeah, I’m goin’ out there.’ ‘What business are you in?’ I said, ‘The motion picture business.’ ‘What do you do?’ I said, ‘I make animated cartoons.’ ‘Oh.’ The guy was unimpressed. It was as if I’d said, ‘I sweep up the latrines.’”

			By the time the train pulled in to Los Angeles, Walt had changed his plans. “I was discouraged with animation,” Walt later recalled. “I wanted to be a director.” There was just one catch: Walt had barely any experience as a live-action director.

			By this time, Walt’s Uncle Robert was retired and living in southern California. Walt rented a room at his Uncle Robert’s house for five dollars a week. 

			After he settled into his room, Walt visited Roy in Sawtelle (Roy was confined to a screened-in porch ward so he could breathe the healthfully dry air). Later, Walt toured Hollywood, visiting the abandoned Babylon set from D.W. Griffith’s 1916 film Intolerance and the modest bungalows of the Charlie Chaplin studio. 

			Walt had business cards printed that read: “Walt Disney—Selznick News Representative.” It was a minor stretch of the truth—he had shot a few newsreels for Selznick News in Kansas City. That business card, plus Walt’s confident air, got him past the front gate at Universal Pictures. He wandered around sound stages, the backlot and the post-production facilities, soaking up everything he could learn about filmmaking. 

			The next day, Walt went to the Universal employment office and asked for a job as a director. He was curtly turned away. By the end of the week, Walt had applied to every studio in town. None would take a chance on a young director, fresh off the train from Kansas City.

			Walt finally landed a temporary job—as a horse-mounted movie extra in a western, The Light That Failed. On the day Walt arrived for filming, the shoot was canceled because of rain. “That was the end of my career as an actor,” he later mused.

			The Disney Brothers Studio

			He sent his only copy of the unfinished film, Alice’s Wonderland, to Margaret Winkler, along with a letter that said, “I am no longer connected with the Laugh-O-gram Films, Inc., of Kansas City.
 ­. ­. ­. I am establishing a studio in Los Angeles for the purpose of producing the new and novel series of cartoons I have previously written you about.” After reviewing the film, Miss Winkler offered him a contract for six Alice Comedies at $1,500 per film. He had no money, no studio—but he was back in the cartoon business. 

			That night, Roy Disney awoke in his hospital bed to find Walt standing over him, waving a piece of paper. It was nearly midnight.

			“What are you doing here?” Roy asked.

			“Look at this!” Walt whispered. “We’re in! Margaret Winkler wants the Alice Comedies! Can you help me get this thing started?”

			“Can you deliver the cartoons on deadline?” Roy asked. “Have you figured your costs and profit margin?” 

			Walt answered “Yes.”

			“Okay, kid,” Roy said. “I’ll help you.” Walt left happy. 

			The next morning, when an X-ray showed that Roy’s lungs were clear, he checked out of the hospital and went straight to the bank. He withdrew his savings of $200, then went to persuade Uncle Robert to kick in another $500. 

			“Walter doesn’t pay his debts,” Robert protested. 

			“The distributor has offered him a fat contract,” Roy countered. “He’ll pay you back.”

			Robert reluctantly forked over the money. 

			Margaret Winkler insisted that Walt cast the original Alice, Virginia Davis, in the Alice Comedies. So Walt offered Virginia’s mother a one-year contract if she would move to Hollywood. Within days, Virginia and her mom were on a train to California. 

			Walt signed the contract with M. J. Winkler Productions on October 16, 1923 (that date is considered to be the founding of The Walt Disney Company). For $10 a month, he rented space at the rear of The Holly-Vermont Realty office at 4651 Kingswell Avenue in Hollywood. He taught Roy how to work the $200 second-hand movie camera he bought. Walt handled all the animation chores on the first cartoon and hired two young women to ink the cels. Walt delivered on-time, and Miss Winkler was pleased. Alice’s Day at Sea debuted on March 1, 1924. 

			In February 1924, Walt moved next door to a storefront at 4649 Kingswell. Gold-leaf lettering on the window read: “Disney Bros. Studio.” He hired one more animator, Rollin “Ham” Hamilton, and the Alice series was under way. With each new entry, Walt’s product improved. 

			In June 1924, Walt convinced Ub Iwerks to move to Hollywood and join the Disney studio—but it took all of Walt’s powers of persuasion to win him over. Walt had left Kansas City owing Ub over $1,000 in back salary and could only offer him $40 a week. Finally, Walt offered Ub a twenty-percent interest in the Disney Brothers Studio, and Ub agreed to move. 

			Ironically, as the Alice Comedies began to find an audience, Walt’s distributor cut his income from $1,500 to $900 per film. Margaret Winkler’s overbearing, unpleasant new husband, Charles Mintz, thought the Disney brothers were making too much money. He told Walt, in effect, “Take it or leave it,” so Walt grudgingly accepted the reduced terms. 

			By the end of 1924, however, the growing success of the Alice Comedies gave him increased bargaining power. Walt reminded Mintz that other distributors would pay what the Alice Comedies were worth. In December 1924, Walt signed a contract with Mintz for $1,800 per film, plus a percentage of the profits. 

			Around that time, Walt and Roy moved to a single room in a boarding house. This living arrangement quickly placed a strain on brotherly love. Roy usually did the cooking. One night, Walt shoved his plate away in disgust and headed for the door. Roy swore at him and said, “If you hate my cooking so much, then one of us should move out!”

			After the blowup, Roy sent a telegram to Edna Francis and urged her to come to California so they could get married. Edna needed no coaxing.  She and her mother arrived by car on April 7, 1925. Roy and Edna were married on April 12 in a small ceremony at Uncle Robert’s house. Elias and Flora Disney, who were now living in Portland, Oregon, came down for the wedding. Walt stood beside Roy as best man. Edna’s maid of honor was a young inker and painter at the Disney Brothers Studio; her name was Lillian Bounds. 

			A new suit, a new wife, a new life

			Lillian Bounds was born in Spalding, Idaho, in 1899, the tenth and youngest child of Willard and Jeanette Bounds. In 1923, Lilly was ­living in Los Angeles with her sister Hazel, while attending business college. Kathleen, a friend who worked at the Disney Brothers Studio, urged Lillian to apply for a job as an inker-painter. Kathleen also gave Lillian a word of advice: “Don’t flirt with the boss—he’s all business.”

			Lilly had no intention of flirting with the boss. Walt Disney hardly fit her image of a Hollywood studio executive. He was young—two years younger than Lilly, in fact—and his clothes were worn and shabby. He hired Lillian as an inker at a salary of $15 a week. 

			Although inking the cels was painstaking work, Lillian took to it well. She enjoyed the atmosphere at the studio. Everyone there had a sense that they were doing something good, something important. People were willing to work hard and stay late, and everyone—even Walt—was called by his or her first name. 

			At the time, Walt and Roy paid themselves less than their animators. Every cent of profit the Disney brothers made was plowed back into the studio. Even so, they often came up short on payday. Whenever the well went dry, Walt and Roy would forgo their own paychecks. Occasionally, Walt would even ask Lilly to hold off cashing her paycheck.

			As a boss, Walt was friendly enough, but Lillian detected no romantic spark—nor did she desire any. She enjoyed working at the Disney Brothers Studio and she found her young boss likable enough—but romance? It didn’t even cross her mind.

			It wasn’t love at first sight for Walt, either. Sure, Lilly was pretty and pleasant—but Walt had more important things on his mind than romance. He was totally focused on building the studio and battling deadlines. 

			Walt owned a beat-up Ford runabout and sometimes gave the girls a lift home from work. First, he would drop Lilly off, then Kathleen. As Lillian later recalled, “When Walt started dropping the other girl off first so he could talk to me, I knew he was ­interested.” 

			One night, Walt came by the ink department when Lillian was alone and working late. He offered to wait for her and give her a ride home. While he waited, Lillian became uncomfortably aware that Walt was standing behind her. She could hardly concentrate on her work. The next thing she knew, he kissed the back of her neck. She blushed but pretended not to notice. 

			After locking up the studio, Walt drove her home. The drive was un­characteristically quiet. Walt walked her to the door, then blurted, “Lilly, if I bought myself a decent suit, would you invite me in to meet your sister?”

			Lillian smiled. “You can come in now, if you like.”

			“No,” Walt said. “When I get a suit, you can invite me in.” With a wave, he jumped back in his Ford roadster and sped away.

			The next morning, Walt went to Roy’s office. “I need forty bucks for a new suit,” Walt said. “The studio can afford it.”

			“What do you want a new suit for?” Roy asked.

			“Well,” Walt said, “maybe I want to get married in it.”

			Roy gave Walt the money, and he bought a double-breasted gray-green suit with two pairs of pants. That night, decked out in his new suit, Walt took Lilly home. He went inside and met Hazel and her seven-year-old daughter, Marjorie. “How do you like my new suit?” he asked. Hazel and Marjorie approved of the suit—and of Walt. 

			Lilly’s niece Marjorie recalled, “Walt was at our house an awful lot. . . . My mother and Aunt Lilly could never really decide whether he was there because of Aunt Lilly or because of my mother’s cooking. But I guess it was Aunt Lilly.”

			Walt enjoyed Lilly’s family, especially their family singalongs around the piano. On Sundays, Walt took them all out for a drive, with a stop for ice cream cones on the way home. He even bought a cone for Lilly’s dog.

			One spring night in 1925, soon after Roy and Edna were married, Walt took Lilly to a movie. After­ward, Walt said, “You know, this old Ford is looking kind of shabby. Lilly, you’re a practical girl. Which should I buy—a new car or an engagement ring for your finger?” 

			Lillian knew a proposal when she heard one. “An engagement ring,” she said.

			“Oh,” Walt said, nodding.

			Years later, Lillian would laugh and say, “Walt seemed disappointed that I didn’t tell him to buy the car.” In the end, Walt got the car he wanted as well—a slightly used Moon roadster, dark gray with a rumble seat and a sleek hood ornament. 

			On July 6, 1925, Walt and Roy made a down payment on a vacant lot at 2719 Hyperion Avenue, in the Silver Lake district of Los Angeles. They also decided to raise their own pay to $40 a week—the same as their top animators. After all, married men had responsibilities.

			A few days later, Walt and Lillian took a train to Lewiston, Idaho. On July 13, 1925, they were married in the parlor of the home of Lilly’s brother, the Lewiston fire chief. 

			Walt and Lillian set up housekeeping in a tiny apartment with a view of the alley. They socialized with Roy and Edna, and usually went out to dinner and a movie once or twice a week. Afterward, Walt would often return to the office to finish up a few chores, taking Lilly along. He’d work, she’d fall asleep on the couch, and sometime around two in the morning, he’d gently wake her and take her home.

			Walt and Lillian’s romance was reminiscent of the comic romances in Walt’s later movies, such as The Absent-Minded Professor. In fact, screenwriter Bill Walsh claimed he based Professor Brainerd (Fred MacMurray) on Walt. In the movie, Professor Brainerd is so absorbed in his scientific experiments that he misses his own wedding—three times in a row. Walt didn’t miss his ­wedding, but he was prone to absent-mindedness in his private life.

			On more than one occasion, Walt became so absorbed in his work that he failed to return home until somewhere between ten and midnight—long after Lillian’s carefully prepared dinner had gone cold. After one such episode, Walt brought home a peace offering in a hatbox. Lillian opened the box and found a little chow puppy with a red ribbon around its neck. She fell in love with the dog and named it Sunnee. Lillian later recalled, “I forgave him. You can’t stay mad at Walt for very long.” Walt would recreate the dog-in-the-hatbox scene in his 1955 animated feature, Lady and the Tramp.

			A new studio and a new name

			The Disney Brothers Studio continued turning out Alice cartoons at a rate of two per month. Unfortunately, distributor Charles Mintz began paying more slowly. Walt wrote Mintz on October 2, 1925, “I intend to continue shipping pictures to you as fast as completed, which is about every sixteen days. I will expect you to take them as delivered and remit immediately. Your failure to do so will constitute a breach of contract.”

			Walt pushed his animators to deliver both speed and quality. He sometimes insisted that certain sequences be scrapped and redrawn two, three or more times until they met Walt’s high standards. During 1925, Walt fired himself as an animator. “I was never happy with anything I ever did as an artist,” he once reflected. From then on, Walt would serve as producer, director, coach, cheerleader and head story­teller—but he would never animate another frame of film.

			As the Alice Comedies grew in popularity, Walt urged his animators to find new ways of putting personality and emotion on the screen. Even in those early days of animation, the twenty-four-year-old studio head was pushing his artists toward revolutionary developments in the art of animation. 

			Animator Friz Freleng recalled working on Alice’s Picnic in 1927, in which he animated a scene with a mama cat bathing her kittens. Freleng decided to make the bath scene more real by having one little kitten attempting to crawl out of the tub. None of the action he created was in the script—Freleng simply ad libbed.

			When Walt saw the pencil tests, he called the animators together. “I want you all to see this scene,” he said as the projector rolled. “Look at that one kitten. Friz doesn’t have him simply jump out of the water and try to get away. He has this kitten crawl over the side and hang there, like a real kid would do. This is not just a cartoon—this is a character. This kitten has personality. That’s what I want to see in our pictures.” Walt was quietly but deliberately revolutionizing the way cartoons were made. 

			In January 1926, as the Disney studio was completing its twenty-ninth cartoon in the Alice Comedies series, Alice’s Little Parade, Walt and Roy moved into their newly constructed studio at 2719 Hyperion Avenue in Los Angeles. It was a one-story white stucco building, completely open inside except for two partitioned spaces for the offices of Walt and Roy. When the Hyperion studio opened for business, it had a new name: The Walt Disney Studio. 

			There are differing accounts as to how the studio came to be identified by Walt’s name alone. Some critics have suggested that the name change was due to Walt’s “oversized ego.” But shortly before his death, Roy told Disney archivist Dave Smith, “It was my idea. Walt was the creative member of the team. His name deserved to be on the pictures.”

			The Lucky Rabbit disaster

			With the move to the Hyperion Avenue studio, Walt’s appearance changed: He added a pencil-thin mustache. The twenty-four-year-old studio head wanted to appear more mature—and perhaps a bit more dashing and self-confident. That mustache would remain Walt’s personal trademark for the rest of his life.

			At this time, all but one of the animators on Walt’s staff were Laugh-O-grams veterans. Walt’s animators admired and respected him so much that they eagerly relocated halfway across the country just to work with him again.

			Walt’s contract with Mintz called for twenty-six Alice Comedies per year—a new cartoon every two weeks. Walt’s team delivered like clockwork. In 1926, Mintz told Walt to slow down and deliver a new cartoon every three weeks instead of every two. Walt ­couldn’t afford to do that. 

			“With my present payroll,” Walt wrote Mintz, “on a three weeks schedule I would absolutely be losing money, and to cut down my force is out of the question. You well know, yourself, how hard it is to get men trained in this line of work. My artists are all experienced, capable men, difficult to replace at any salary. How can I afford the loss which a delayed schedule would mean?”

			In the summer of 1926, Dr. Thomas McCrum—Walt’s Kansas City benefactor—commissioned the Disney studio to produce a companion film to Tommy Tucker’s Tooth (1922). It starred Walt’s niece, Marjorie Sewell, as Clara. 

			Marjorie Sewell Davis later recalled that her casting was a combination of nepotism and economics: “Walt Disney was my uncle,” she said, “and he didn’t have to pay me very much!” Her memories of Walt’s directing were similar to those of Virginia Davis. “He would act things out himself,” Marjorie recalled. “If he told you to do something, he would first go through the facial expressions himself, showing you exactly what he wanted from you.” 

			Near the end of 1926, Carl Laemmle, the head of Universal Pictures, told Charles Mintz he wanted a new cartoon series. The two most popular toons at that time were Felix the Cat and Krazy Kat, so Laemmle wanted something different—how about a rabbit? Mintz told Laemmle he knew just the studio for the job—the Disney studio in Hollywood. Laemmle told Mintz to cut a deal with Disney and start producing rabbit cartoons.

			A few days later, Charles Mintz and his wife Margaret toured the new Disney studio. Afterward, Mintz told Walt that The Alice Comedies had run their course and the contract would not be renewed. However, a major studio wanted a series starring a rabbit. Could Disney produce it?

			Walt had Ub Iwerks produce character sketches for a new rabbit character. Mintz passed the sketches on to Universal, but refused to tell Walt the name of the studio. Only after Carl Laemmle gave his approval did Mintz tell Walt that the buyer was Universal. A ­contract was drawn up between Universal, Mintz and the Disney studio for a series Mintz called “Oswald the Lucky Rabbit.”

			The first Oswald cartoon, Poor Papa, was rushed into production in April 1927, while the last few Alices were still being produced. Critics who previewed Poor Papa found Oswald unlikable and gave the cartoon thumbs down. Mintz decided to delay the film’s release (it eventually premiered on August 6, 1928). 

			The second Oswald cartoon, Trolley Troubles, appeared on September 5, 1927. The critics loved it. “Oswald is a riot,” exulted Film Daily. “Funny how the cartoon artists never hit on a rabbit before. Oswald with his long ears has a chance for a lot of new comedy gags, and makes the most of them.” 

			The Lucky Rabbit became a huge star. Dick Huemer, who later became a story director for Disney, was working at the Max Fleischer studio when Trolley Troubles was released. “Walt Disney’s Oswalds had something more in them than what we in New York were doing at the time,” Huemer recalled. “I remember seeing them at the Colony Theatre on Broadway and being considerably impressed—and admittedly jealous. I used to go seek them out and study them.”

			Oswald was a good vehicle for expressing Walt’s belief that anything is possible, that there are no limits to imagination. Walt ruthlessly exploited the elastic possibilities of his cartoon characters in gag after gag.

			As the fortunes of the Walt Disney Studio improved, so did the lifestyle of Walt and Lillian Disney. In the fall of 1927, Walt and Roy bought identical prefabricated Tudor-style houses on adjoining lots for $7,000 each. The houses were located on Lyric Avenue in the Silver Lake district, close to the Hyperion studio. 

			Still, there were signs that all was not well in toonland. Given Oswald’s popularity, the studio should have been making more money. Walt’s contract with Charles Mintz promised him a flat fee per cartoon plus a share of the profits—but Mintz insisted there weren’t any profits to share. Walt and Roy found that hard to believe.

			At contract-renewal time in February 1928, Walt went to New York with Lillian, intent on cutting a more lucrative deal. As he walked into Mintz’s office on 42nd Street, Walt figured Oswald’s success gave him the winning hand in a contract showdown. 

			Walt asked Mintz for a raise, from $2,250 per cartoon to $2,500. Mintz shocked Walt by offering him a pay cut instead. “I’ll give you eighteen hundred,” Mintz countered. That wouldn’t even cover Walt’s production costs—and Mintz knew it. “Take it,” Mintz said, “or I’ll ruin you. I already have your key artists signed up.”

			It was an unbelievable boast. Walt’s animators wouldn’t desert him for Mintz—would they? Walt had personally taught them the animation trade. He had brought them out from Kansas City. He had paid them well—more, in fact, than he paid himself. They wouldn’t sign with Mintz—it was unthinkable.

			Walt telephoned Roy from the Hotel Astor and told him of the boast Mintz had made. Roy conducted his own investigation—and found it was true. Charles Mintz had sent his brother-in-law, George Winkler, to the Disney studio, supposedly to collect completed Oswald reels and lobby poster art. Winkler had quietly lured away nearly all of Walt’s artists—all except Ub Iwerks and two assistant animators, Johnny Cannon and Les Clark (Clark would have a long career with Disney and become known as one of Walt’s “Nine Old Men” of animation). Mintz and Universal were trying to take over the Disney studio, lock, stock and inkwell.

			While Walt was in New York, Roy had an attorney look at the contract he and Walt had signed with Mintz and Universal. The fine print assigned legal ownership of the Lucky Rabbit to Universal Pictures. Walt didn’t own Oswald. After Walt heard the bad news from Roy, he turned to Lillian and said, “Well, I’ve learned a lesson. Never again will I work for someone else.”

			Lillian recalled Walt’s amazing calm in reaction to this bitter disappointment. Walt’s tone was upbeat as he telephoned Roy. “Keep your chin up, Roy,” Walt said. “We’ll have the last laugh, and that’s the best laugh of all.”

			Walt was confronted by a stark choice: turn his studio into a subsidiary of the Mintz organization, or walk away and start over. The second option was filled with risks and unknowns—but that’s the option Walt chose.

			In late March, without telling Roy of his plans, Walt paid a final visit to Charles Mintz. “Charlie,” he said, “you want Oswald this badly? Well, you can have him. He’s all yours.”

			Mintz was dismayed. He didn’t just want Oswald—he wanted the Disney studio. He started to tell Walt how they could work together on Oswald, but Walt cut him off. “Don’t you hear what I’m saying, Charlie? I’m through with Oswald. Just looking at him makes me sick. He’s all yours—and good luck with him.”

			Walt turned to leave—then he paused and added, “But you’d better look out for yourself, Charlie. The people who did this to me will do it to you.” Then he walked out.

			Walt’s final advice to Charles Mintz proved prophetic. With brother-in-law George Winkler in charge, Mintz’ Snappy Comedies company created new Oswalds for Universal. It didn’t take long, however, for Carl Laemmle to yank the character away from Mintz and put Walter Lantz (the eventual creator of Woody Woodpecker) in charge of the Lucky Rabbit. Mintz learned that what goes around, comes around. 

			Sometime later, Walt happened to run into Charles Mintz at Universal Studios. Mintz sat in the waiting room, hat in hand, looking nervous and lonely. Setting the past aside, Walt exchanged pleasantries with Mintz. Later, he wrote to Roy and said, “Poor old Charlie. It was sad to see him that way.”

			“Don’t worry, everything okay . . .”

			Walt had trusted Mintz, and the man had robbed him blind. As a result, Walt had lost his only cartoon character and nearly his entire animation staff—men he had trusted as friends. 

			On his way back to the hotel, Walt asked himself, “What now?” He wasn’t defeated. He wasn’t feeling sorry for himself. He still had Ub Iwerks and a head full of ideas. A door had slammed in his face. It was time to open a window. 

			The Disney brothers were going to need every ounce of optimism they could muster in order to bounce back. So instead of calling Roy with the news that they had lost Oswald, Walt sent Roy this cheery-sounding telegram, dated March 13, 1928: 

			LEAVING TONITE STOPPING OVER KC

			ARRIVE HOME SUNDAY MORNING SEVEN THIRTY

			DON’T WORRY EVERYTHING OK

			WILL GIVE DETAILS WHEN ARRIVE

			WALT

			As Walt and Lilly boarded the 20th Century Limited in Grand Central Station, Walt pondered new plans for the future. During the train ride from New York to Los Angeles, an entertainment legend was born: a spunky little rodent named Mickey.

			How to Be Like Walt—
Lesson 2: Be a Salesman

			When I spoke with Virginia Davis (Walt’s original Alice), I was impressed with this observation she made: “Walt was a great salesman.” The more I examined Walt’s life, the more I saw what a profound insight this was. From the very beginning of his career, Walt was a salesman—one of the greatest salesmen the world has ever known.

			He got his first office rent-free by selling restaurant owner Al Carder on trading artwork for desk space. Later, Walt sold Kansas City businessmen on investing in his animation studio. Without any track record, he sold his Laugh-O-gram cartoons to Pictorial Clubs for an $11,000 contract. After Laugh-O-grams went bankrupt, he sold his Alice Comedies to M.J. Winkler Productions on the basis of an unfinished film—and at a time when he had no staff, no money, no studio and not even a place to live. 

			On two different occasions, Walt sold Ub Iwerks on the idea of working at his animation studio for lower pay than he was making at the Film Ad Company—and the second time, Walt even talked Ub into moving halfway across the country. Ultimately, Walt persuaded his entire Kansas City animation team to relocate to California. This fact speaks volumes about Walt’s ability to inspire others to buy into his dreams.

			Later in this book, we will see Walt use his formidable powers of persuasion and salesmanship to inspire his artists to create Snow White and the Seven Dwarfs—an achievement many said was impossible. We’ll watch him finance and build Disneyland with sheer salesmanship. We’ll see him go on television and sell Disneyland and the Disney movie magic to millions. Walt succeeded because he was a salesman. 

			Many people look down on selling as somehow beneath them. I hope you don’t make that mistake. All the wealth in America can be traced to the fact that somebody somewhere sold something to somebody else. Selling is one of the most honorable professions around—and one of the most rewarding. It is also one of the toughest. 

			What does it take to be a great salesman? (I’m using the term “salesman” in a gender-neutral way.) I would suggest five qualities that every great salesman must have. Build these qualities into your life and you can sell like Walt. Those five qualities are honesty, enthusiasm, confidence, courage and persistence. Let’s take a closer look:

			1. Honesty. All great salesmen are honest. Does that surprise you? That’s probably because you have been raised on the stereotype of the fast-talking used-car salesman in the plaid jacket. Sure, shysters abound, and they give a bad name to the honest salesmen who make their living by trading value for value. But the best salesmen are people of integrity.

			A great salesman lives on repeat business. The key to repeat business is trust, and the key to trust is integrity. Anybody can sell to one customer one time. A great salesman builds relationships of trust on a foundation of truth. 

			If a customer catches you in a lie, the trust is broken, the relationship is over. So always tell the truth about your product. Never promise more than you can deliver. It’s better to under-promise and over-deliver than the other way around. If you are known as an honest person, you will be known as a successful salesman.

			“Walt was a great salesman,” Imagineer Harriet Burns told me, “and his best sales technique was his absolute honesty. I remember many situations where we needed to sell a corporation or a financial backer on some project. When it was a crucial situation, the staff would say, ‘Walt, you’ll have to go.’ In other words, Walt would have to go in person and sell it. And he’d do it every time. He didn’t use glib talk or flashy sales methods. He simply sold his ideas with his honesty and sincerity. People could tell that he said what he meant and meant what he said. They trusted him, and that trust relationship made him a great salesman.” 

			2. Enthusiasm. All great salesmen are fired up about their product. Enthusiasm is contagious; it affects everyone around you. How did a twenty-year-old cartoonist convince a group of Kansas City businessmen to part with $15,000 so he could open his studio? Enthusiasm! Voice actor Corey Burton told me, “Walt was excited about his projects, his movies, his theme park. When he was excited about something, his excitement fired up everyone around him. That’s how he sold his dreams.”

			Disney film editor Norman “Stormy” Palmer recalls Walt’s power to motivate. “Walt’s enthusiasm made over-achievers out of all of us,” he told me. “You got caught up with his energy, you believed in his ideas, and you wanted to please him. He transmitted his excitement to all of us. If it hadn’t been for Walt, there would have been a lot of times we would have settled for less than our best. But Walt made us believe we could do better.”

			Disney matte artist Peter Ellenshaw agrees. “Walt Disney had an overpowering aura of enthusiasm about him, and it was contagious. We all felt it. Walt’s enthusiasm powered everything we did.” 
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